1984

The State of Utah v. Dennis A. Heap : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant, Dennis A. Heaps, appeals from the judgment and conviction by the Court sitting without a jury in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Ernest F. Baldwin, Jr., Judge, presiding, of Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by a Restricted Person, a Felony in the Second Degree.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant was convicted on April 25, 1983 and was sentenced to the Utah State Prison for the indeterminate term of one to fifteen years, concurrent.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of his conviction of Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by a Restricted Person, a Second Degree Felony, in the Court below.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 25, 1983, Salt Lake City police officer Henry Huish stopped a truck and, at gunpoint, required all of the occupants to exit the vehicle with their hands raised; then he handcuffed all the occupants immediately (Tr.37,46,58,68,84, 85), but did not tell them they were under arrest, although he told them they were subject to arrest (Tr.67,68,70). Officer Huish then searched the vehicle and found a firearm under the passenger side of the truck's bench seat, approximately 12 to 18 inches from the passenger side door (Tr.59,60).

Officer Huish subsequently questioned each of the occupants about who the gun belonged to, how it got there, and what it was doing there (Tr.62). He talked first to David McCoy, the owner and driver of the truck; he spoke with Mike Perry second, with a juvenile girl third, and with appellant last (Tr.62).

David McCoy was the only witness who testified that the gun was in appellant's possession (Tr.35,45). Mike Perry, another occupant of the truck, testified that he told Officer Huish that he had not seen the gun before (Tr.87), and that he did not tell Officer Huish that the gun was in appellant's possession (Tr.100,101). Appellant testified that he knew nothing about the gun and that he so told Officer Huish on the day he was arrested (Tr.114,124,125).

At the time of appellant's arrest for this offense, David McCoy was on felony probation; McCoy thought that a conviction, especially for possession of a firearm, would very likely cause

a revocation of his probation and would cause him to be sent to prison (Tr.52,53,54,55).

At appellant's trial in this case, David McCoy testified that appellant had the gun in his possession (Tr.35,45). Mike Perry testified that, after all the occupants of the truck except appellant were released, David McCoy made a statement to Perry regarding who had possession of the gun (Tr.90-98). The Court would not allow Perry to testify about the contents of McCoy's statement as it kept sustaining the prosecution's hearsay objection (Tr.90-98). It is clear, however, from a reading of that portion of the transcript that McCoy's prior statement, made at the scene of the arrest, was inconsistent with his testimony at trial.

Also, at appellant's trial Officer Huish testified that "one reason" for his stopping the truck was that he observed an improper lane change; he never articulated any other reasons for the stop, if there were any (Tr.58,65). Officer Huish further testified that he never gave McCoy or anyone a citation for the traffic violation (Tr.64,65), and McCoy confirmed that (Tr.51).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ADMIT INTO EVIDENCE A WITNESS' PRIOR INCONSISTENT STATEMENT REGARDING POSSESSION OF THE FIREARM.

The trial in this case took place on April 25, 1983. As

the new Utah Rules of Evidence were not in effect until September 1, 1983, the applicable rule at the time of trial was Utah Rule of Evidence 63(1)(a), as contained in Utah Code Ann. (1953). That rule states:

RULE 63

HEARSAY EVIDENCE EXCLUDED--EXCEPTIONS

Evidence of a statement which is made other than by a witness while testifying at the hearing offered to prove the truth of the matter stated is hearsay evidence and inadmissible except:

(1) Prior Statements of Witnesses. A prior statement of a witness, if the judge finds that the witness had an adequate opportunity to perceive the event or condition which his statement narrates, describes or explains, provided that (a) it is inconsistent with his present testimony. . . .

Witness David McCoy testified that appellant showed him the gun while they were in the truck, and that appellant had the gun tucked in the waistband of his pants. Later in the trial, Mike Perry, another occupant of the truck, testified as follows, in relevant part:

A. . . . David McCoy crawled out of the police officer's car and came over and stood next to me.

I kind of grabbed him by the elbow and pushed him to the side and said, "Hey, what is going on here?" You indicated to me that was not Dennis Heaps' gun." (Tr.90). . .

- Q. Did you ask him whose gun it was?
A. Yes, more or less indicated. Yes.
(Tr.91). . .
- Q. Did he say it was Mr. Heaps' gun?
A. No, he did not. (Tr.91). . .
- Q. Did he give you a name as to who
the gun belonged to?
A. He didn't have to. It was just me
and him standing there.
- Q. And was that Mr. Heaps?
A. No. (Tr.97)

Although this testimony of Mike Perry's regarding McCoy's prior statements were reported in the transcript, they were all objected to as hearsay by the prosecution, and the objections were sustained by the trial court. Thus the trier of fact, in this case Judge Baldwin, could not consider those statements in reaching his verdict. In addition, Perry was never allowed to testify to the exact contents of McCoy's prior statement. Nonetheless, it is clear from Perry's testimony that McCoy's prior statement did not agree with the testimony that McCoy had given earlier in the trial.

The language of the applicable Utah Rule of Evidence 63(a) (1) carves out an exception to the general hearsay rule. Although under this rule a prior inconsistent statement is hearsay (as opposed to the new rule on the same subject, Rule 801(d) (1) (A), which states that a prior inconsistent statement is not hearsay), it is an exception to the general rule that hearsay is not admissible.

Most or all jurisdictions, including Utah, have rules allowing

the admission of a witness's prior inconsistent statement. E.g., United States v. Murphy, 696 F.2d 282 (4th Cir. 1982); United States v. Coran, 589 F.2d 70 (1st Cir. 1978); United States v. Plum, 558 F.2d 568 (10th Cir. 1977); United States v. Champion International Corporation, 557 F.2d 1270 (9th Cir. 1977); United States v. Morgan, 555 F.2d 238 (9th Cir. 1977); State v. Acree, 121 Ariz. 94, 588 P.2d 836 (1978). Although the jurisdictions are not in agreement as to whether the prior statement can be admitted substantively or for impeachment only, Utah admits the statement substantively, both under the new and the old rules. As stated in the Committee Note to Rule 801 which follows the new Utah Rule of Evidence 801:

Subdivision (d)(1) is similar to Rule 63(1), Utah Rules of Evidence (1971). It deviates from the federal Rule in that it allows use of prior statements as substantive evidence if (1) inconsistent or (2) the witness has forgotten, and does not require the prior statement to have been given under oath or subject to perjury. The former Utah Rules admitted such statements as an exception to the hearsay rule. (Emphasis added).

The policy behind such an exception (or exclusion from the definition of hearsay) is to protect a party from a "turn-coat" witness, one who changes his story at trial. E.g., United States v. Murphy, 696 F.2d 282,284. The trier of fact could decide to believe the prior statement rather than the witness's testimony at trial. The rule also allows the trier of fact to use the witness's inconsistency to help judge the witness's credibility.

Thus based on the inconsistency, the trier of fact could decide that the witness is wholly or partially unworthy of belief.

In the present case, the contents of McCoy's statement could well have caused a vital difference in appellant's case. If, as seems likely, McCoy had stated to Perry at the scene of appellant's arrest that appellant did not ever possess the gun and/or that the gun was actually in his (McCoy's) possession, the prior statement would have corroborated both appellant's testimony at trial and his statement to Officer Huish at the scene of the arrest. McCoy's prior statement would, no doubt, also have cast grave doubt on the veracity of McCoy's testimony at trial in which he stated that the appellant had possession of the gun while they were in the truck prior to the stopping of the truck.

McCoy's prior inconsistent statements, therefore, should have been admitted as an exception to the hearsay rule, and it certainly cannot be deemed harmless error.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE GUN INTO EVIDENCE AS IT IS THE FRUIT OF APPELLANT'S ILLEGAL ARREST.

When Officer Huish stopped the truck in which appellant was a passenger, he drew his gun and immediately required all the occupants to exit the truck. He then handcuffed all of them and kept them all restrained in that way while he searched the truck. During his search he found a gun under the bench seat of

the truck. Officer Huish testified that he did not tell the handcuffed persons that they were under arrest at this time, although he testified he told them they were subject to arrest. The restraint of appellant, and the other occupants continued while Officer Huish questioned each one of them separately regarding the gun. He eventually released everyone but appellant who he took to jail and booked for Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by a Restricted Person.

When questioned at trial about his reasons for stopping the truck, Officer Huish responded that a traffic violation he observed the driver of the truck, McCoy, commit was "one reason." However, he never said what reasons, other than McCoy traffic violation, existed.

A. THE STOP AND SEARCH WAS NOT A
TERRY STOP AND SEARCH

An arrest is generally defined as a deprivation of a person's liberty by legal authority. BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY, 140(rev. 4th ed. 1968). There is, of course, a distinction between an arrest and a Terry stop. The United States Supreme Court first established the legality of a stop which is less intrusive than an arrest in Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). In that case, the Supreme Court held that a police officer can stop a person or a vehicle for a short period of time to make reasonable inquiries and to conduct a limited frisk of the person for weapons if the officer has observed unusual conduct which leads him to reasonably conclude that criminal

activity may be afoot.

A Terry stop, therefore, is something much less severe than an arrest. Although a police officer may clearly detain a person for a brief period of time to question the person, the detention must be of a minimal nature. As the United States Supreme Court recently said in explaining why an ordinary traffic stop is analagous to a Terry stop:

Under the Fourth Amendment, we have held, a policeman who lacks probable cause but whose "observations lead him reasonably to suspect" that a particular person has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a crime, may detain that person briefly in order to "investigate the circumstances that provoke suspicion." United States v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873,881 (1975). "[T]he stop and inquiry must be "reasonably related in scope to the justificaion for their initiation." Ibid. (quoting Terry v. Ohio, supra, at 29.) Typically, this means that the officer may ask the detainee a moderate number of questions to determine his identity and to try to obtain information confirming or dispelling the officer's suspicions. But the detainee is not obliged to respond. And, unless the detainee's answers provide the officer with probable cause to arrest him, he must then be released. The comparatively nonthreatening character of detentions of this sort explains the absence of any suggestion in our opinion that Terry stops are subject to the dictates of Miranda. The similarly noncoercive aspect of ordinary traffic stops prompts us to hold that persons temporarily detained pursuant to such stops are not "in custody" for the purposes of Miranda.

Berkemer v. McCarty, 35 Criminal Law Reporter (CCH), 3192 (1984).

In addition, although the officer may conduct a search for

weapons for his own safety, that search may not be extensive; it may only extend to a search of the outside of the person's clothing. Terry v. Ohio, *supra*; Pirri v. State, 428 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1983).

The distinction between a Terry stop and frisk situation and an arrest must be made on a case by case basis as there is no clear-cut factor which distinguishes one from the other. However, the United States Supreme Court has further clarified the distinction in several cases it decided after Terry. See United States v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873 (1975); Dunaway v. New York, 442 U.S. 200 (1979); Florida v. Royer, ___ U.S. ___, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983).

In the Dunaway case, *supra*, police officers took the defendant into custody, upon less than probable cause, in connection with an attempted robbery and homicide; the defendant was taken to the police station and questioned. The defendant was never told he was under arrest, but officers admitted they would have physically restrained him had he tried to leave the station. The Court held that the police conduct in this case constituted an arrest of the defendant even if he was never so advised, and that it clearly exceeded the confines of a Terry stop. Since the police lacked probable cause to effect the arrest, the Court held the arrest illegal and the evidence obtained pursuant to the arrest inadmissible.

The more recent United States Supreme Court case, Florida

v. Royer, supra, further clarified the distinction between arrest and a Terry stop and frisk. In Royer, the suspicions of drug officers were aroused when they spotted the defendant who fit the "drug courier profile" (the characteristics which apparently fit the profile were nervousness, a cash purchase of an airline ticket under an assumed name, heavy luggage, the 25-35 year age and the casual dress of the defendant.) Upon the request of the officers, the defendant produced for them his airline ticket and driver's license. At this point, the officers identified themselves, told the defendant they suspected him of carrying drugs, and asked him to accompany them to a small room forty feet away. One officer, using the defendant's luggage claimcheck, retrieved his luggage and brought it back to the small room. When asked if he would consent to a search of the luggage, the defendant produced the luggage key which opened one suitcase and did not object when the officers forcibly opened the second.

Based upon this set of facts, the Court ruled that, although the activities began as an investigative Terry-type detention, it became an arrest when the defendant was brought to the nearby room; as the officers lacked probable cause at that point, the arrest was illegal. Since the defendant's consent to the search was tainted by the illegal arrest, the search was also invalid and the evidence seized should have been suppressed by the trial court, the Supreme Court ruled.

In making this decision, the Royer court made it clear that the police may not carry out a full search of a person, car, or other effects as part of a Terry investigatory search, that a Terry search must be carefully tailored and limited, and that a Terry detention must be temporary and last no longer than necessary.

Other courts dealing with this issue have also held that a person can be considered to be under arrest, rather than stopped for a Terry investigation, even without being brought to the police station for questioning. See People v. Hazelhurst, 662 P.2d 1081 (Colo. 1983); United States v. Chamberlain, 644 F. 1262 (9th Cir. 1980). Whether or not a person is brought to the police station, therefore, is not the determining factor.

As stated by the court in Gonzales v. City of Peoria, 722 F.2d 468 (9th Cir. 1983):

"Detention" defines a special category of Fourth Amendment seizures that are substantially less intrusive than arrests (citation omitted). Because detention represents only a limited intrusion, it can be justified by a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity (citation omitted). However, that suspicion justifies only a brief stop and interrogation and, under proper circumstances, a brief check for weapons (citation omitted). If the seizure involves anything more than the brief and narrowly-defined intrusion authorized by Terry it must be justified by probable cause (citation omitted).

Gonzales, 722 F.2d at 477.

The use of the handcuffs and gun by Officer Huish on

appellant are certainly important factors to be considered in deciding whether Huish's actions constituted an arrest or a Terry stop. In Burns v. State, 595 P.2d 801 (Okla. 1979), the Court ruled that a fact situation similar to the present case was an arrest, not a Terry stop. The Court commented, "This Court has previously upheld the legality of investigatory stops by police officers. . . . However, investigatory stops are not made at gunpoint," (emphasis added). Burns, 595 P.2d at 803.

In the present case, the officer's stop and subsequent search of the vehicle were both clearly far beyond the permissible scope allowed in a Terry stop and search. In this case, appellant and other occupants of the truck were ordered out of the truck by the officer at gunpoint and were immediately handcuffed. The officer kept appellant and the others detained in this manner while he searched the vehicle and then went back and forth between them questioning each individually about the gun he found in the search. Such a detention cannot be considered a Terry stop since appellant's liberty was so severely restricted and the restriction was for a substantial period of time.

The search of the vehicle, too, clearly exceeded the parameters of a Terry search in that the officer searched not only appellant's person but also searched the truck.

A search that went beyond a pat-down of the outer clothing of a person detained for a valid Terry stop was held illegal for exceeding the scope of such an investigatory detention

in Pirri v. State, 428 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1983). That Court said: "The police officer could only conduct a carefully limited, self-protective search of the outer clothing of such a person to discover the presence of weapons" (emphasis added), Pirri, 428 So.2d at 286.

B. THE OFFICER'S CONDUCT HERE
CONSTITUTED AN ARREST OF
APPELLANT

Officer Huish testified that none of the occupants of the vehicle were under arrest when he pointed his gun at them and handcuffed them all. However, courts which have dealt with the question of when an arrest occurs have made it clear that the words, "You are under arrest" are not "magic" words without which an arrest cannot occur. State v. Harrington, 430 So.2d 394 (La. 1983); State v. Christian, 454 A. 2d 262, 189 Conn. 85 (1983); McCrory v. State, 643 S.W. 2d 725 (1982). On the contrary, the question of whether an arrest has occurred can only be determined by looking at all the circumstances surrounding the stop. The United States Supreme Court, in discussing whether a person stopped by an officer for a traffic violation was "in custody" for Miranda purposes even though the officer had already silently decided to arrest the person, said:

Although Trooper Williams apparently decided as soon as respondent stepped out of his car that respondent would be taken into custody and charged with a traffic offense, Williams never communicated his intention to respondent. A policeman's unarticulated plan has no bearing on the question whether a suspect was "in custody" at a particular time; the only relevant inquiry is how

a reasonable man in the suspect's position would have understood his situation (emphasis added).

Berkemer v. McCarty, 35 Criminal Law Reporter (CCH), 3192 (1984).

The same inquiry is the proper one in deciding when an arrest has occurred. McQuarter v. City of Atlanta, 572 F. Supp. 1401 (N.D.Ga. 1983); State v. Waicelunas, 672 P.2d 968 (Ariz. 1983); People v. Pancoast, 659 P.2d 1348 (Colo. 1982); Redarte v. City of Riverton, 552 P.2d 1245 (Wyo. 1976). An arrest can take place regardless of whether an officer tells the person that he is under arrest, State v. Christian, 189 Conn. 35, 454 A.2d 262 (1983); State v. Harrington, 430 So.2d 394 (La. 1983); McCrory v. State, 643 S.W.2d 725 (1982), or whether the officer has even decided that he is going to arrest the person. People v. Pancoast, supra; State v. Waicelunas, supra.

The subjective intent of the officer is not controlling on the issue whether an arrest has occurred; rather, the issue rests upon an evaluation of all the surrounding circumstances to determine whether a reasonable man innocent of any crime would have thought he was being arrested if he had been in defendant's shoes.

State v. Waicelunas, 672 P.2d at 970.

In this case, there can be very little question but that any reasonable person in appellant's position would have believed that he was under arrest when Officer Huish stopped the truck in which he was riding. The facts that support such a reasonable conclusion are that appellant was ordered out of the truck at

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