1984

The State of Utah v. Dennis A. Heap : Brief of Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Point I. Defendant cannot raise for the first time on appeal a claim that excluded testimony should have been admitted at trial under the prior inconsistent statement exception to the hearsay rule because defendant failed to so inform the trial court. This Court will not review claims in such circumstances because the trial court was not afforded the opportunity of addressing defendant's concerns, failure to raise the claim at trial indicates acquiescence in the trial court's ruling, and the granting of a new trial in such circumstances would contravene considerations of finality.

Defendant has not shown that the trial court abused its discretion by excluding hearsay testimony proposed by defendant or that he was unfairly prejudiced thereby. The trial court properly excluded the hearsay testimony because the testimony was no so inherently reliable that it could be admitted under an exception to the hearsay rule and because defendant did not provide the hearsay declarant an opportunity to deny or explain the alleged statement. Finally, in light of the overwhelming evidence of defendant's guilt, any error in the exclusion of the testimony was harmless.

Point II. Defendant waived any challenge to the admissibility of the gun by failing to make a pre-trial motion to suppress such evidence in accordance with Rule 12, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, and his interposing an objection at trial at

the end of the State's case-in-chief does not preserve the issue for appeal. Defendant has shown no cause warranting relief from Rule 12's waiver provision, and the waiver should be enforced because defendant long before the first day of trial was aware of the facts and circumstances surrounding the arrest and of the possibility of the introduction into evidence of the gun.

Because defendant failed to discharge his burden of proof with respect to the alleged inadmissibility of the gun, the record does not reveal the extent of the police officer's probable cause for the stop, search and arrest; therefore, this Court has no basis upon which to review defendant's allegation of irregularities in the stop, search or arrest. Defendant should not be permitted to challenge on appeal issues he failed to develop adequately at trial.

Finally, under Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 99 S.Ct. 421, 58 L.Ed. 2d 387 (1978), defendant has no standing to challenge the search of the passenger compartment of David McCoy's pickup truck because as a mere passenger he had no legitimate expectation of privacy therein.

Point III. Defendant's conviction is supported by sufficient evidence. The testimony of David McCoy and Officer Henry Huish, the police report and other circumstantial evidence all established that the gun was in defendant's possession.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED THE HEARSAY TESTIMONY OF DEFENDANT'S WITNESS.

A. DEFENDANT CANNOT CHALLENGE ON APPEAL THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING

Defendant at trial sought to elicit from defense witness, Mike Perry, on direct examination the substance of a statement allegedly made by David McCoy at the VIP Trailer Court just after they had been released. The trial court sustained the prosecutor's objections to this hearsay testimony because the testimony was intended only to establish the truth or falsity of McCoy's alleged statement (R. 103, 140-146) [See Appendix "A"]. Defendant did not object to the trial court's ruling.

Defendant on appeal alleges as error the trial court's exclusion of Perry's testimony and now claims for the first time that the testimony should have been allowed as a prior inconsistent statement, an exception to the hearsay rule. Rule 63(1)(a), Utah Rules of Evidence (1977). (The new Utah Rules of Evidence did not become effective until September 1, 1983, after defendant's trial was completed.) Defendant in his brief speculates that in the absence of the trial court's rulings Perry would have impeached McCoy by testifying that McCoy told him that the gun was not in defendant's possession but was in fact in McCoy's possession (Brief of Appellant, p. 7).

Rule 5, Utah Rules of Evidence, provided that a party may challenge on appeal the exclusion of evidence only if the record shows that the party made known the substance of the evidence or indicated the substance of the anticipated evidence by questions indicating the desired testimony. In the instant case the substance of the excluded testimony was adequately indicated by the questions asked; however, this Court in

Bradford v. Alvey & Sons, Utah, 621 P.2d 1240 (1980), expanded the requirements of Rule 5 by affirming the trial court's exclusion of hearsay testimony on the grounds that at trial the plaintiff-appellant "did not make any offer of proof as to what evidence would be adduced, nor the purpose it would serve, as required by Rule 5, Utah Rules of Evidence." Id. at 1243 (emphasis added).

In the case at bar, the trial court repeatedly asked defendant the purpose of the desired testimony and indicated that the testimony would be admissible if the reason for the questions was other than to establish the truth or falsity of McCoy's alleged statement (R. 141-142) [See Appendix "A"]. Defendant never advised the trial court that he was offering the testimony as a prior inconsistent statement to impeach McCoy. For defendant now to challenge the trial court's ruling on that basis violates the well-settled rule in this jurisdiction that absent exceptional circumstances a party cannot raise an issue for the first time on appeal. State v. Steggell, Utah, 660 P.2d 252 (1983); Wagner v. Olsen, 25 Utah 2d 366, 482 P.2d 702 (1971). Since defendant has not alleged any exceptional circumstances justifying his failure to take advantage of the ample opportunities presented at trial to raise this claim, he is precluded from challenging the trial court's ruling.

This Court's language in Bradford, indicating that a party cannot challenge on appeal the trial court's exclusion of testimony unless that party informed the trial court of the purpose to be served by the testimony, is supported by Rule 20,

Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure (Utah Code Ann. § 77-35-20 (1982)), which provides:

Exceptions to rulings or orders of the court are unnecessary. It is sufficient that a party state his objections to the actions of the court and the reasons therefore. If a party has no opportunity to object to a ruling or order, the absence of an objection shall not therefore prejudice him.

Thus, although Rule 5, Utah Rules of Evidence, did not expressly require a contemporaneous objection to a trial court's ruling excluding testimony as did Rule 4, Utah Rules of Evidence (1977), in cases involving the admission of evidence, under Rule 20, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, and this Court's ruling in Bradford, a party has a duty at trial to raise the legal grounds supporting the admissibility of excluded testimony and to inform the court of the purpose to be served by the excluded testimony.

The application of Rule 20, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, to this case is clear. Because defendant had ample opportunity to object to the trial court's exclusion of Mike Perry's hearsay testimony on the grounds that the testimony was admissible as a prior inconsistent statement offered for the purpose of impeaching David McCoy, defendant's failure to do so precludes him from now raising the issue on appeal.

This result is supported by solid policy considerations. The court in Rice v. State, 567 P.2d 525 (Okla. Cr. 1977), outlined several important reasons for such a rule. In Rice, the prosecutor objected to testimony which the defendant sought to elicit on direct examination from her own witnesses. The Rice court stated:

The court, rightfully or wrongfully, sustained the State's motion. Defendant thereupon took no exception to the court's ruling. An exception here would have been no mere formality for by not taking it defendant apparently acquiesced in the court's ruling. Had an exception been taken argument could have been had with the chance of changing the court's mind. Since the exception was not taken, the trial court was denied an opportunity to correct itself. A prosecutor's objection to evidence introduced by the defendant does not preserve the record for defendant when the court rules adversely to defendant.

Id. at 530.¹

These considerations are similar to those supporting the contemporaneous objection rule applied to cases in which the admission of evidence is challenged on appeal. This Court recently in State v. McCardell, Utah, 652 P.2d 942 (1982), endorsed the following statement of the Kansas Supreme Court in State v. Moore, 218 Kan. 450, 543 P.2d 923, 927 (1975):

The contemporaneous objection rule long adhered to in this state requires timely and specific objection to admission of evidence in order for the question of admissibility to be considered on appeal. The rule is a statutory procedural tool serving a legitimate state purpose. By making use of the rule, counsel gives the trial court the opportunity to conduct the trial without using the tainted evidence, and thus avoid possible reversal and a

¹ Under Rule 20, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, a party would object rather than take exception to a trial court's ruling. In light of Rule 20's objection requirement, the elimination of any requirement to except to a trial court's rulings is obviously intended to eliminate superfluous exceptions when a timely and specific objection has already been interposed and not to relieve a party of the duty to raise his or her concerns for the trial court's consideration.

new trial. Furthermore, the rule is practically one of necessity if litigation is ever to be brought to an end.

McCardell, 652 P.2d at 947. After noting that defendant McCardell failed to make a specific objection to the admission of the challenged evidence, this Court further stated:

This is clearly a case where a timely and specific objection would have afforded the trial court the opportunity to address McCardell's concerns and at the same time permit the State to proceed with the evidence most relevant to its case. A new trial should not be the result of McCardell's failure to provide the trial court that opportunity.

Id.

The considerations outlined by the Rice court and this Court in McCardell apply to the instant case. By failing to raise this claim at trial, defendant apparently acquiesced in the trial court's exclusion of the testimony. The prosecutor's objection should not preserve the issue for defendant because the prosecutor's position is at odds with defendant's position and the prosecutor's objection did not provide the trial court with the opportunity to address defendant's concerns. Defendant's failure to provide the trial court with such an opportunity should not result in a new trial at the expense of finality considerations and the conservation of already extended judicial resources. Also, the opportunity to conduct a trial using all admissible evidence is just as important as the opportunity to conduct a trial without using tainted evidence. Finally, all of these considerations are in harmony with the previously cited rule that a party cannot raise an issue for the first time on appeal.

Therefore, in compliance with Rule 20, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, and this Court's ruling in Bradford v. Alvey & Sons, Utah, 621 P.2d 1240 (1980), defendant is precluded from now challenging the exclusion of Mike Perry's hearsay testimony because he neither objected to the trial court's ruling stating the grounds therefor nor informed the trial court of any permissible purpose of the excluded testimony.

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY EXCLUDING THE HEARSAY TESTIMONY

This Court has consistently held that the trial court's rulings on the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed unless there is a clear showing that the judge abused his discretion and that a party has been unfairly prejudiced. In Interest of S---J---, Utah, 576 P.2d 1280 (1978); In re Baxter's Estate, 16 Utah 2d 284, 399 P.2d 442 (1965); see also State v. Carlson, Utah, 635 P.2d 72 (1982) ("clear showing" requirement).

Moreover, when, as here, the trial is to the court, review of the trial court's rulings on the admissibility of evidence is less strict because the trial judge has superior knowledge as to the competency and effect that should be given evidence and will include this knowledge and judgment in his consideration of the admissibility of the evidence. Del Porto v. Nicolo, 27 Utah 2d 286, 495 P.2d 811 (1972); In re Baxter's Estate, 399 P.2d at 445.

Defendant has made no clear showing that the trial court abused its discretion by excluding Mike Perry's hearsay testimony or that defendant was unfairly prejudiced thereby. Since, as discussed above, defendant failed to inform the trial

Since, as discussed above, defendant failed to inform the trial court that the purpose of the excluded testimony was to impeach David McCoy by means of a prior inconsistent statement the trial court's failure to admit the testimony on this basis cannot be an abuse of discretion. Also, defendant was not unfairly prejudiced by the exclusion of the testimony because, as discussed below, any error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of defendant's guilt.

C. THE TESTIMONY WAS NOT ADMISSIBLE UNDER AN EXCEPTION TO THE HEARSAY RULE BECAUSE IT LACKED THE INDICIA OF RELIABILITY.

Hearsay testimony generally is excluded because the credibility of testimony is best tested when the witness testifies under oath in open court and is subject to cross-examination. State v. Sanders, 27 Utah 2d 354, 496 P.2d 270 (1972); People v. Dement, 661 P.2d 675 (Colo. 1983); McCormick on Evidence, § 245 (2d ed. 1972).

However, testimony that is otherwise hearsay may be admitted into evidence if it falls under an exception having circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness, and absent such guarantees, the testimony is inadmissible. State v. Martin, 686 P.2d 937, 949 (N.M. 1984); State v. Robinson, 94 N.M. 693, 616 P.2d 404 (1980); People v. Howard, 198 Colo. 317, 599 P.2d 899 (1979); cf. Rule 803(24), Utah Rules of Evidence (Supp. 1983) (Hearsay statements are covered by this "catchall" exception only if they have "circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness"

equivalent to those of the other exceptions.)² The Robinson court stated unequivocally: "Guarantees of reliability are and must be the key to open the door to the exceptions." 616 P.2d at 411. The court in Howard equally emphatically stated: "The trier of fact will only be permitted to receive hearsay testimony as evidence only in those limited circumstances where the inherent reliability of the hearsay clearly outweighs the strong policy reasons for excluding it." 599 P.2d at 899. The exceptions dealt with in both Robinson and Howard were, as here, established statutory exceptions to the hearsay rule.

In the instant case, Mike Perry's hearsay testimony could not have been admitted under an exception to the hearsay rule because it lacked the indicia of reliability. The court in Stanberry v. State, 637 P.2d 892 (Okla. Cr. 1981), outlined several factors to be considered in determining the reliability of a hearsay statement:

The trustworthiness of a statement should be analyzed by evaluating the facts corroborating the veracity of the statement, the circumstances in which the declarant made the statement, and the incentive he or she had to speak truthfully or falsely; and careful consideration should be given to factors bearing on the reliability of the reporting of the hearsay by the witness.

² The new Utah Rules of Evidence, though not in effect at the time of defendant's trial, reflect this Court's acknowledgement of the fact that exceptions to the hearsay rule depend on circumstantial guarantees of reliability that substitute for the oath and cross-examination. Although under the new rules a prior inconsistent statement is not hearsay, under the prior rules governing this proceeding, such a statement was admissible only as an exception to the hearsay rule and as such must have circumstantial guarantees of reliability.

Id. at 895, citing United States v. Bailey, 581 F.2d 341 (3rd Cir. 1978). Although the Stanberry court considered the reliability of a hearsay statement in the context of the residual exception to the hearsay rule, its test is equally applicable to the present situation.

The defendant's questions of Mike Perry were clearly intended to elicit from Mike Perry testimony regarding an alleged statement by David McCoy to the effect that the gun was not in defendant's possession. The alleged statement fails the first test of reliability as set out by the Stanberry court: the alleged statement's veracity is not corroborated by other evidence. In fact, as noted below in the harmless error discussion, all of the evidence contradicts the substance of the alleged statement. The alleged statement also fails the Stanberry court's last test because the reliability of Mike Perry's reporting of the alleged statement was eroded by Officer Huish's testimony that Perry had informed him at the scene of the arrest that the gun was in defendant's possession and that he, Officer Huish, had so recorded the incident in his official report (R. 117, 181-187).³

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